IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC09-332 First DCA no. 1D07-4688

STEVEN W. MONTGOMERY,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from the First District Court: Certified Question & Certified Conflict

JURISDICITIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BILL MCCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE
Assistant Attorney General
Bureau Chief, Criminal Appeals
Florida Bar No. 0045489

CHARLIE MCCOY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 333646

Office of the Attorney General
The Capitol, Suite PL-01
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300
(850) 922-6674 (fax)

Counsel for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

<u>Case</u>--The State seeks discretionary review of <u>Montgomery v.</u>

<u>State</u>, case no. 1D07-4688 (Fla. 1st DCA Feb.12, 2009) [copy attached]. That decision reversed Montgomery's conviction for second degree murder, and announced a rule of *per se*, fundamental error:

Appellant contends the trial court fundamentally erred in giving the standard jury instruction for manslaughter by act[.] ... We agree with Appellant because the standard instruction imposed an additional element on the crime of manslaughter by act, and that offense was one step removed from the crime for which Appellant was convicted.

Id. at p.2.

The opinion certified conflict with <u>Barton v. State</u>, 507 So.2d 638 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), rev'd. on other grounds, 536 So.2d 1194 (Fla. 1988). It also certified this question to be of great public importance:

IS THE STATE REQUIRED TO PROVE THAT THE DEFENDANT INTENDED TO KILL THE VICTIM IN ORDER TO ESTABLISH THE CRIME OF MANSLAUGHTER BY ACT?

Id. at p.12-13.

¹The opinion issued Dec. 31, 2008. The State moved for rehearing, etc. Jan. 7, 2009. That motion was denied upon issuance of the Feb. 12 opinion. The State filed notice to invoke this court's discretionary jurisdiction Feb. 23, and amended that notice March 5. By order of March 4, the First DCA granted the State's motion to stay mandate.

<u>Facts</u>—Charged with first degree murder, Montgomery was convicted for the lesser included offense of second degree murder with the finding he carried, etc. a weapon. (R1:88-9).² He was the victim's enraged boyfriend, and engaged her in a fatal struggle throughout their apartment. (Trial4:225-60). She died from strangulation and multiple blunt force injuries, including fractured ribs; and suffocated when fat particles migrated to her lungs as a result of the beating. (Trial4:276-314).

Using the standard jury instructions, the trial court explained that the crime charged (first degree murder) included second degree murder and manslaughter; and that the jury must first decide if Montgomery killed the victim. If so, it then must decide whether the killing was first or second degree murder, manslaughter, or excused. (Trial6:743-44).

The trial court gave the definition of "act." (Trial6:745). It finished the first degree murder instruction, and gave the standard ones for second degree murder and manslaughter. (Trial6:747). The second degree instruction explained that the State did not have to prove "intent" to cause death. (Trial6:747-8). The manslaughter instruction required the State

²The record on appeal below consisted of two volumes of filings cited (R[vol. no.]:[page no.]); and four volumes of trial transcript cited (Trial[vol. no.]:[page no.]).

to prove Montgomery "intentionally caused [the victim's] death." (Trial6:748, lines 16-17). The trial court further explained:

In order to convict of manslaughter by intentional act it is not necessary for the state to prove that the defendant had a premeditated design to cause death[.]

(Trial6:748-9).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The opinion below passed upon the certified question, establishing the first basis for this court's subject matter jurisdiction. The opinion also certified conflict with the Fifth DCA's "position" in <u>Barton</u>, establishing a second basis for this court's jurisdiction. For both grounds, jurisdiction should be exercised because the opinion has jeopardized every second degree murder conviction in the direct appeal pipeline--by finding per se fundamental error to give the previous version of the standard jury instruction on manslaughter by act.

The opinion concluded that fundamental error arose upon one circumstance, beyond use of previous manslaughter instruction—that the offense of manslaughter was only one step removed from the conviction obtained.³ The opinion declined to reach, as

³The First DCA treats <u>Montgomery</u> as announcing a rule of *per se* fundamental error. Already, two decisions have followed it without mention of the facts. *See Burroughs v. State*, 997 So.2d 522 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008) (reversing for "the reasons expressed in <u>Montgomery"</u>); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 2009 Fla.App.LEXIS 137 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 9, 2009) ("Because the trial court fundamentally erred

moot, Montgomery's other three issues. *Id.* at p.2. It failed to analyze the error in context of the entire trial, and conflicts with Garzon v. State, 980 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 2008).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

DOES THIS COURT HAVE JURISDICTION BASED ON CERTIFICATION OF A QUESTION, CERTIFICATION OF CONFLICT, OR NON-CERTIFIED CONFLICT?

A. Standard of Review

Whether the opinion below established jurisdiction in this court is determined *de novo*. *Cf*. <u>Stanek-Cousins v</u>. <u>State</u>, 912 So.2d 43, 48 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005) ("Questions of subject matter jurisdiction are reviewed de novo.").

B. Jurisdiction

Certified Question--The opinion below certified and passed upon a question of great public importance. The State is not required to file a jurisdictional brief to invoke this ground. See Fla.R.App.P.9.120(d)

<u>Certified Conflict</u>--When the opinion below certified conflict with Barton, it observed:

In contrast [to the Second DCA in $\underline{\text{Hall}}$], the Fifth District opined, based on $\underline{\text{Taylor}}$, that the words "act" and "procurement" in the manslaughter statute

in giving the standard jury instruction for manslaughter by act, we REVERSE").

'obviously refer to acts evidencing an intent to kill, as required at common law for voluntary manslaughter.'

Id. at p.4, quoting <u>Barton</u>, 507 So.2d at 641. The opinion elaborated:

In determining that there is no intent-to-kill element in manslaughter by act, we have come into conflict with the Fifth District. ... [W]e agree with the Second District regarding the elements of the crime of manslaughter by act. We believe that the contrary holding espoused by the Fifth District in Barton leaves a gap in the law, as it would not allow for a manslaughter conviction in cases where the defendant commits an unlawful act that unintentionally results in the death of the victim. Because we are unable to reconcile our holding with the Fifth District's position, we certify conflict with Barton.

Id. at p.12.

Barton challenged his convictions for attempted manslaughter and aggravated battery, based on the single act of cutting the victim "across the neck with a single swipe of a hawk-billed knife." *Id.* at 639. The court ultimately held the convictions were mutually exclusive. *Id.* at 640.

To reach this conclusion, the court turned to the statutory definition of manslaughter, said to codify the common law. See 507 So.2d at 641. It observed:

Voluntary manslaughter at common law ... has been statutorily enacted in Florida as "the killing of a human being by the act (or) procurement . . . of another, without lawful justification." §782.07, Fla. Stat. (1985). The words "act" and "procurement" obviously refer to acts evidencing an intent to kill, as required at common law for voluntary manslaughter.

Id. [e.s.]. As the opinion below certified, the underlined
sentence gives rise to the conflict.

The logical flaw in <u>Barton</u> is that a person can deliberately act unlawfully, to cause the victim's death; but without contemplating death or any particular victim before so acting. The opinion below reaches the opposite conclusion, that manslaughter by act requires proof of "only an intentional unlawful act, rather than intent to kill." (opinion, p.9).

Non-Certified Conflict -- In Garzon v. State, 980 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 2008), this court said:

We likewise agree that this is not a case where the court failed to correctly instruct on an element of the crime over which there was a dispute, as in $\underline{\text{Delva}}$ and $\underline{\text{Reed}}$. Since this case does not present a $\underline{\text{Delva}/\text{Reed}}$ error, the Fourth District was correct in examining the totality of the record to determine if the "and/or" instruction met the exacting requirements of fundamental instruction error.

Id. at 1043.

In this case, there was not a failure to instruct on a disputed element. To the contrary, the previous version of the standard manslaughter by act instruction was given. The instruction did not reduce the State's burden of proof; but, as the opinion below declared, "imposed an additional element on the crime." (opinion, p.2).

In State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1991), the court failed to instruct the jury on the knowledge element of cocaine possession. See id. at 645("Because knowledge that the substance in the package was cocaine was not at issue as a defense, the failure to instruct the jury on that element"). In Reed v. State, 837 So.2d 366 (Fla. 2002), the standard jury instruction for "malice" was erroneous; so it "reduc[ed] the state's burden of proof on an essential element of the offense charged." Id. at 369 [e.s.; internal quote omitted].

Because this case did not involve a total failure to instruct, or an erroneous instruction reducing the State's burden of proof; it did not involve Delva or Reed error. However, the opinion below did not look at the "totality of the record." It thus conflicts with controlling precedent; that is, Garzon, by misapplying it. See Anstead, Kogan, et. al., The Operation & Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida, Nova L. Rev., 87-90 [12/28/2005 update] (conflict jurisdiction arises when the opinion below misapplies controlling precedent).

C. Exercise of Jurisdiction

The opinion below has jeopardized every second degree murder conviction in the direct appeal pipeline in which the

⁴The updated version of 12/28/2005 is available at: http://www.floridasupremecourt.org/pub_info/documents/juris.pdf

instruction for manslaughter by act was given. It announces, contrary to recent decision by this court, a rule of per se fundamental error. Based on the certified question and certified conflict, jurisdiction should be exercised.

Recently, this court amended the standard manslaughter-byact jury instruction to clarify that the State does not have to prove "premeditated intent to cause death:"

[W]e modify instruction 7.7 as follows:

In order to convict of manslaughter by intentional act, it is not necessary for the State to prove that the defendant had a premeditated intent to cause death, only an intent to commit an act which caused death.

See Hall v. State, 951 So.2d 91 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). We authorize publication and use of the instruction as modified. [emphasis original].

In re Std. Jury Instructions in Crim. Cases—Report No. 2007-10, 2008 Fla. LEXIS 2377 (Fla. Dec. 11, 2008) at *2. However, the court also declared that it "express[ed] no opinion on the correctness of this instruction." *Id.* at *4. Therefore, the certified question has not been answered on the merits, and the certified conflict has not been resolved.

As to the non-certified conflict, jurisdiction should be exercised to correct the misapplication of <u>Garzon</u>. Not only did the opinion below announce a rule of per se fundamental error, but did so without looking at the entire trial.

CONCLUSION

This court has jurisdiction to review the opinion below. It should accept jurisdiction, and announce whether jurisdiction rests on the certified question, certified conflict, or non-certified conflict.