IN SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

**CASE NO. SC09-332** L.T. No. 1D07-4688

STEVEN W. MONTGOMERY,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_/

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

### JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RICHARD M. SUMMA ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 SummaR@leoncountyfl.gov (850) 606-1000

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT FLA. BAR NO. 890588

##

#### JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's statement of the case. Respondent generally accept's Petitioner's statement of the facts, but with the following caveat. The cause of death was disputed. The defense presented an expert witness, Dr. Kessler, who opined that the victim's death was not caused by strangulation. (Trial, V, 575). Dr. Kessler also opined that there was no evidence of suffocation. (Trial, V, 605).

The theory of defense was self-defense. (Trial, VI, 699-700, 708, 709). Defense counsel argued that the injuries to the victim's extremities which appear to have been caused by a stick or pole could have resulted from an attempt to disarm a knife-wielding victim. (Trial, VI, 708). A purple broom handle and a metal rod were found at the scene. (Trial, IV, 230, 233). Either of these items could have been the "weapon" found by the jury. There were

stab marks in the bedroom wall which could have been caused by the

victim throwing knives at Mr. Montgomery. (Trial, VI, 718). There was a fight going on there. There were things being thrown against the walls in the bedroom. We know they were thrown against the walls because of the impacts were there. Who's throwing them and why?

(Trial, VI, 709).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court possesses the discretion to exercise jurisdiction of the case because the First District Court of Appeal certified a question of great public importance and also certified conflict with <u>Barton v. State</u>, 507 So. 2d 638 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1987), <u>rev'd on</u> <u>other grounds</u>, 536 So. 2d 1194 (Fla. 1988). The opinion of the First District Court of Appeal, however, does not constitute a misapplication of the law expressed in <u>Garzon v. State</u>, 980 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 2008). Jurisdiction is not vested in this Court under the "misapplication" doctrine.

This Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction, however, because this Court has already addressed the error in the standard jury instruction for manslaughter by act and has amended the standard jury instruction to clarify that the offense of manslaughter by act does not require the state to prove that the defendant intended to cause the death of the victim. The opinion of the district court below conforms to the current instruction promulgated by this Court. Furthermore, the error that occurred in the trial court should no longer occur in light of the amended jury instruction.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE

# WHETHER THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION OF THE CASE AND, IF SO, WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT BELOW?

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The determination of jurisdiction is a legal question. <u>Jacobsen v. Ross Stores</u>, 882 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2004). Legal questions are determined *de novo*. <u>Engle v. Liggett Group Inc.</u>, 945 So. 2d 1246, 1259 (Fla. 2006).

#### MERITS

## A. Jurisdiction

This Court possesses the discretion to exercise jurisdiction of the case because the First District Court of Appeal certified and passed upon a question of great public importance and also certified conflict with <u>Barton v. State</u>, 507 So. 2d 638 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1987), <u>rev'd on other grounds</u>, 536 So. 2d 1194 (Fla. 1988). <u>See</u> Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) & (v).

The opinion of the First District Court of Appeal, however, does not constitute a misapplication of the law expressed in <u>Garzon</u> <u>v. State</u>, 980 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 2008). This Court possesses jurisdiction of a district court decision which expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of this Court "on the same question of law." <u>See</u> Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). This grant of jurisdiction is very narrowly tailored, however.

A conflict of decisions . . . must be on a question of law involved and determined, and such that one decision would overrule the other if both were rendered by the same court; in other words, the decisions must be based practically on the same state of facts and announce antagonistic conclusions.

Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808, 811 (Fla. 1958).

The legal issue presented in <u>Garzon</u> is not related to the issue presented in this case. In <u>Garzon</u>, this Court considered whether the unobjected-to use of the "and/or" conjunctive between the names of the codefendants in a criminal case constituted fundamental error in the context of the particular case. The Court ultimately held that the use of the conjunctive was error, but not fundamental error as to any defendant under the totality of the circumstances.

The present case is distinguishable from <u>Garzon</u>, however, on a number of grounds. The present case does not concern the use of the "and/or" conjunctive. The present case does not involve the law of multiple defendants. The present case does not involve the law of principals. Finally, <u>Garzon</u> did not involve a conviction for manslaughter, or a claim of error in the manslaughter instruction. The district court did not "misapply" <u>Garzon</u> because <u>Garzon</u> is not applicable to the present case. Jurisdiction is not vested in this Court under the "misapplication" doctrine because <u>Garzon</u> does not represent a decision on the "same question of law" and is factually diverse from the present case.

### B. Exercise of jurisdiction

The grounds for the exercise of jurisdiction are not compelling. Both the certified question and the certified conflict concern the same legal issue, i.e., whether the offense of manslaughter requires proof of intent to kill. This Court, however, has already considered this question and promulgated changes to the standard jury instruction which clarify that manslaughter by act does not require proof of intent to kill. In order to convict of manslaughter by intentional act, it is not necessary for the State to prove that the defendant had a premeditated intent to cause death, only an intent to commit an act which caused death.

<u>In re: Std. Jury Instr. In Crim Cases - Report No. 2007-10</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S965 (Fla. Dec. 11, 2008). The issue decided by the district court below is not likely to recur in light of the recently amended jury instruction. The exercise of jurisdiction would amount, therefore, to a waste of judicial resources.

The state contends that the district court misapplied the <u>Garzon</u> fundamental error doctrine because the district court "failed to analyze the error in context of the entire trial, . . ." (Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief at 4). Petitioner, however, fails to comprehend the basic difference between <u>Garzon</u> and the present case. The present case involved an error in defining a disputed element of a charged offense (manslaughter by act). Garzon did not involve an error in defining an element of a charged

б

Garzon involved the ambiguity which may inure in the offense. verdict when charging multiple defendants conjunctively (and/or) as principals to the commission of a crime. In Garzon, this Court noted a number of factors which nullified any claim of ambiguity in the verdict, including: Garzon had knowledge of the layout of the victims' home; the law of principals was properly explained in closing argument; the jury was properly advised of the "multiple defendants instruction," explaining that separate counts were charged against each defendant and that a verdict rendered against one should not affect the verdict rendered against another; the acquittal of Garzon and Coles on the extortion count reflected the jury's independent consideration of each charge. In sum, there was a rational basis in the record to confirm the validity of the trial and instill confidence in the verdict.

The present case, however, demonstrates a decided lack of confidence in the verdict as well as an erroneous instruction on a disputed element of the offense of manslaughter by act. By its verdict of guilty on the charge of second degree murder, the jury found that the state failed to prove an intent to kill. Had the jury been properly instructed that manslaughter by act likewise does not require proof of intent to kill, the jury would have been faced with the choice of two possible verdicts, second degree murder or manslaughter by act. The erroneous instruction on

manslaughter by act, however, deprived the jury of this choice and compelled the jury to find Respondent guilty of the greater offense second degree murder. This intrusion into the jury's deliberative processes brought this case within the purview of well established legal rules defining fundamental error. The erroneous manslaughter instruction "reach[ed] down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the [alleged] error." State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643, 644 (Fla. 1991). The error in the manslaughter instruction was also "pertinent or material to what the jury must consider in order to convict." Id. at 645. Because the error in the manslaughter instruction intruded upon the jury's prerogative to choose between verdicts of second degree murder and manslaughter, the error was "pertinent or material to what the jury must consider in order to convict." Moreover, unlike the situation in Garzon, there is no rational way to determine whether the jury may have returned a different verdict if properly instructed on the offense of manslaughter by act. The erroneous manslaughter instruction given by the trial court had the effect of coercing a verdict. The fairness of the trial was compromised, as was the confidence in the verdict and the reliability of the outcome. The district court correctly concluded, on this basis, that the error was fundamental.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons expressed above, Respondent respectfully requests that the Court decline to exercise jurisdiction of this case.